Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorders

Hoyle Leigh

Contents

24.1	Vignettes	335
24.2	Introduction	335
24.3	Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD)	337
24.4	Hoarding Disorder	338
24.5	Trichotillomania (Hair-Pulling Disorder)	338
24.6	Excoriation (Skin-Picking) Disorder	338
24.7	Substance/Medication-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorder	338
24.8	Treatment of OCD and Related Disorders (BDD is Discussed	
	Separately Below)	338
24.8.1	Pharmacotherapy	338
24.8.2	Psychotherapy	339
24.9	Body Dysmorphic Disorder (BDD)	339
24.10	Treatment of Body Dysmorphic	340
24.10.1	Cosmetic Treatment in BDD Patients	340
24.10.2	Psychiatric Treatment of BDD	340
References		

H. Leigh, MD, DLFAPA, FACP, FAPM (⊠) Professor of Psychiatry, Department of Psychiatry, University of California, San Francisco, CA, USA

Director, Psychosomatic Medicine Program & Psychiatric Consultation-Liaison Service, UCSF-Fresno, 155N. Fresno St., Fresno, CA 93701, USA e-mail: hoyle.leigh@ucsf.edu

24.1 Vignettes

- 1. A 66-year-old man was admitted to the hospital when he was found by a neighbor unconscious in the hallway of his apartment. When the paramedics came into the apartment, they found that the whole apartment was literally filled with old newspapers that were stacked to the ceiling in each room. Even the refrigerator was filled with newspapers, and there was no food in it.
- 2. A 30-year-old woman was referred to the psychiatrist by a cosmetic surgeon as she wanted cosmetic surgery on her nose for the fourth time. Each time, she was convinced that there was something wrong in the way her nose appeared, first it was too big, then it deviated to the right, then to the left, in spite of all objective evidence that there was no deviation. Body dysmorphic disorder was diagnosed.
- 3. The mother of an 18-year-old man sought consultation for her son, who has been stuck in his room for several days, repeatedly making and remaking his bed. He had not been able to get out of the room because as soon as he came out, he had to go back into the room to remake his bed.

24.2 Introduction

Obsessive-Compulsive and related disorders have in common persistent or recurrent uncontrollable ideas and/or behaviors that are dysfunctional. In most cases, there seem to be a neural substrate, particularly in the basal ganglia and the frontal lobe, as well as memetic (cultural/ideational) component. Memes are neural connections representing ideas, which undergo Darwinian selection in the brain (Leigh 2010, 2012).

An evolutionarily important event was the development of romantic love, which serves as an example of preoccupation, obsession, and compulsion, usually but not always within normal range (Leigh 2010). Helen Fisher studied romantic love extensively. She states, "The sex drive evolved to motivate individuals to seek a range of mating partners; attraction evolved to motivate individuals to prefer and pursue specific partners; and attachment evolved to motivate individuals to remain together long enough to complete species-specific parenting duties. These three behavioral repertoires appear to be based on brain systems that are largely distinct yet interrelated, and they interact in specific ways to orchestrate reproduction, using both hormones and monoamines. Romantic attraction in humans and its antecedent in other mammalian species play a primary role: this neural mechanism motivates individuals to focus their courtship energy on specific others, thereby conserving valuable time and metabolic energy, and facilitating mate choice" (Fisher et al. 2006).

The neural circuit underlying romantic love involves the right ventral tegmental area of the brain stem and right posterodorsal body of the caudate nucleus. The dopaminergic reward and motivation pathways contribute to aspects of romantic love.

The complex neurotransmitter network of the cortico-striatal-thalamo-cortical (CSTC) circuit involving dopamine, serotonin, glutamate, and gamma-amino butyric acid (GABA) may be dys-functional in obsessive-compulsive syndrome (Harvey et al. 2001). The dysfunction in this loop may arise from an attenuation of feedback signal indicating reward which results in compulsive lever pressing in rats, which is further enhanced by lesions of the orbitofrontal cortex (Joel et al. 2005).

Compulsions may also develop from an operant conditioning paradigm as in compulsive gambling, which in turn may result in functional changes in the brain such as impairment of decision-making capacity (Fellows 2007; Hariri et al. 2006; Kalenscher et al. 2006).

Tourette's syndrome is an example of brain dysfunction that involves dysregulation of both ideational and motoric function illuminating the role of the basal ganglia in both. In this syndrome, there are simple and complex motor tics, vocal tics, and frequently obsessive-compulsive symptoms. Its onset occurs before the age of 21 and the course is waxing and waning. Tourette's syndrome occurs mainly in boys and is genetically transmitted with variable penetrance but it has also been associated with various infections and immunological conditions such as the PANDAS (pediatric autoimmune neuropsychiatric disorder associated with streptococcal infection). The neuropathology seems to involve a disturbance of the dopaminergic system in the basal ganglia.

Gene–environment interaction involving the serotonin transporter promoter gene (5-HTTLPR) has also been reported in OCD, i.e., those with the *s/s* allele and childhood trauma were more likely to develop OCD with dissociative experiences (Lochner et al. 2007). Clearly, same gene–environment interaction may lead to multiple vulnerabilities in the CNS, including OCD, dissociation, anxiety, and depression.

Normal thinking process may become abnormal if stuck in a loop, as in preoccupations, obsessions, and compulsions. Preoccupations, obsessions, and compulsions may occur unwantedly and unexpectedly, depending on the state of the brain and the memetic nature of the thought. In the obsessive-compulsive disorder (OCD), there may be a primary dysfunction of the cortico-striatal-thalamo-cortical network involving dopamine and serotonin discussed above. Symptoms of OCD may also occur when an idea becomes particularly reinforced in the brain because it is fed by energies from related preexisting ideas (memes) in the brain. For example, a suicide idea may be introduced by a film to a depressed brain that has many preexisting selfpunishment and guilt ideas, thus the suicide idea may gain strength, proliferate, and recruit the motor neurons to carry out suicide. Other memes, like earworms which are unwanted melodies or sounds that keep on occurring in the mind, may replicate because of the strength of their vehicles (the rhythm, melody, form of presentation, color, smell, texture, etc.). Some such memes may represent "supernormal stimulus," the kinds of stimuli that are evolutionarily determined to elicit strong preferences, or results of early imprinting (Burkhardt 2005).

The diagnosis of obsessive-compulsive and related disorders is made on the basis of the severity of the phenomena and the degree of distress. Earworms are nuisances but not necessarily distressing, ego-alien obsessions can be very distressing, and compulsions may be disabling.

In this chapter, we will discuss first OCD and the related disorders—hoarding disorder, trichotillomania, skin-picking disorder, substance/ medication-induced OCD, and then body dysmorphic disorder separately as it is of particular importance in certain areas of consultationliaison psychiatry.

24.3 Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD)

The characteristic feature of this disorder is recurrent obsessive thoughts or compulsive acts. Obsessive thoughts are ideas, images, or impulses that enter the individual's mind again and again in a stereotyped form. They are almost invariably distressing (ego-dystonic) as they are violent or obscene or senseless, and the patient often tries to resist them-to no avail. These recurrent thoughts are recognized as the patient's own thoughts. Compulsive acts or rituals are stereotyped, repeated behaviors. They are neither inherently enjoyable nor result in the completion of inherently useful tasks. The patient often views them as preventing some objectively unlikely event. Patients usually recognize the compulsive acts to be pointless, and repeated attempts are made to resist them. If the individual is unable to perform the compulsive act, or resists it, unbearable anxiety may build up.

Onset is usually in childhood or early adulthood. OCD tends to be familial, and about 1-3 % of the population is affected (Arco 2008; Grados et al. 2003). It occurs equally in men and women and often develops in individuals who have obsessive-compulsive (anankastic) personality traits.

The perseverative responding seen in OCD may be attributable to a disinhibition of the prefrontal lobe, but there is also basal ganglia, particularly striatal, contribution.

Anxiety may be a prime trigger of OCD (Rachman and Hodgson 1980). Avoidance behavior in animals is well known to be very persistent as it so rarely has the opportunity for extinction— and drugs such as D-amphetamine exacerbate this perseverative tendency. Stereotyped behavior may arise as a coping response to reduce stress. Habit-learning in the rat seems to be mediated by specific sectors of the rat striatum and habit-learning in the striatum can be influenced by pre-frontal cortical mechanisms.

In OCD, there may be a counterbalancing between impulsive and compulsive responding and an over-active "checking" mechanism that compares intended actions with their outcomes; if the hypothetical comparator is constantly detecting mismatches, this will continuously engage the "checking" mechanism possibly dependent on anterior cingulate influences (Boulougouris et al. 2009). Orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), basal ganglia, and thalamus are central to OCD pathophysiology and treatment response (Greenberg et al. 2010).

Patients with OCD often have depressive symptoms, and patients suffering from depression often develop obsessive thoughts during depressive episodes. In severe cases OCD may be crippling, as the patient may be unable to leave home without performing endlessly repetitive compulsive acts such as rearranging furniture and checking the locks. It is important to note that in the CL setting, the stress of the medical condition or the delirium or dementia associated with the medical condition or treatment may exaggerate a patient's obsessivecompulsive personality traits. For example, the development of OCD following brain injury is well documented (Coetzer 2004; Hofer et al. 2012). Such OCD symptoms may resolve once the underlying delirium or stress is resolved.

The stress of illness and hospitalization and the cognitive deficits associated with head injury, medications, and mild delirium can accentuate personality traits such as obsessiveness. Uncertainties regarding diagnosis or proposed treatment may render a person to appear obsessive-compulsive. As it is rare for patients to develop OCD de novo in a hospital, every effort should be made to reduce the situational anxiety or the cognitive deficit accompanying the behavior.

24.4 Hoarding Disorder

A new diagnostic entity in DSM-5, hoarding disorder is characterized by persistent difficulty in parting with or discarding possessions regardless of their actual value, because of a need to save the items and distress in discarding them. This results in an accumulation of items that clutter the living space and compromises their intended use, and causes clinically significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, and other areas including maintaining a safe environment for self and others.

The prevalence of this disorder seems about 2–6 %, and it occurs in both males and females. The prevalence seems higher in older age, though it may appear in teenage, and there is often comorbidity with physical and mental illness (APA 2013; Ivanov et al. 2013).

According to DSM-5, hoarding behavior is familial; 50 % have relatives likewise affected, and twin studies reveal that 50 % of variability of hoarding behavior is attributable to additive genetic factors.

24.5 Trichotillomania (Hair-Pulling Disorder)

This is characterized by recurrent hair pulling resulting in hair loss. There are repeated attempts to stop or decrease hair-pulling to no avail, and the hairpulling causes significant distress or impairment in social, occupational, or other important areas.

The prevalence seems to be 1-2 % in the general population according to DSM-5. Female to male ratio is 10:1. There is often comorbidity with other mental disorders, often OCD and depression.

24.6 Excoriation (Skin-Picking) Disorder

Synonyms include dermatillomania, neurotic excoriation, acne excoriee, pathologic skin picking, compulsory skin picking, and psychogenic excoriation. In this disorder, there is recurrent picking of one's own skin resulting in skin lesions in spite of repeated attempts to decrease or stop the picking. This causes clinically significant impairment in social, occupational, and other areas of functioning. According to DSM-5, the prevalence is 1.4 % or somewhat higher and 75 % are female. The condition often begins in adolescence and often begins with a dermatologic condition such as acne. Comorbidity with OCD and trichotillomania is common, as well as with depression.

24.7 Substance/Medication-Induced Obsessive-Compulsive and Related Disorder

All OCD-related disorders may be secondary to substances (both intoxication and withdrawal), particularly cocaine, amphetamines, and opiates.

24.8 Treatment of OCD and Related Disorders (BDD is Discussed Separately Below)

24.8.1 Pharmacotherapy

In patients with diagnosed OCD, the treatment of choice is an SSRI, increased gradually to a very high dose (e.g., fluoxetine 80 mg per day) (Soomro et al. 2008). Antipsychotics may also be effectively used for augmentation of SSRI (Dold et al. 2013). Olanzapine has been used effectively in excoriation disorder (Gupta and Gupta 2000, 2001). The tricyclic, clomipramine, may also be effective in OCD (Marazziti et al. 2012).

For trichotillomania, *N*-acetylcysteine 1,200–2,400 mg per day may be effective (Bloch 2009; Bloch et al. 2013; Grant et al. 2009; Rodrigues-Barata et al. 2012; Rothbart et al. 2013).

24.8.2 Stereotactic Neurosurgery

Bilateral stereotactic cingulotomy and bilateral capsulotomy have been effective in severe treatment-resistant OCD (Sheth et al. 2013; van Vliet et al. 2013; Zhang et al. 2013).

24.8.3 Psychotherapy

Cognitive-behavioral therapy has been shown to be effective (Olatunji et al. 2013). In CBT for OCD, patients are taught that their intrusive thoughts are not indicative of anything important, but that a problem arises if such thoughts are perceived as unacceptable or threatening.

Exposure and response-prevention (ERP) is another psychotherapeutic modality which has been shown to be effective (Abramowitz et al. 2013). Through this technique, patients confront their fears and discontinue their escape response, facilitating extinction of the classically (Pavlovian) conditioned fear response. ERP can be carried out effectively with minimal face-toface contact between the therapist and the subject as through the internet (Wootton et al. 2011).

Simultaneous administration of D-cycloserine may substantially improve effectiveness of exposure and response prevention (Wilhelm et al. 2008).

For trichotillomania, in addition to CBT, acceptance and commitment therapy (ACT) may be effective as well as dialectical behavioral therapy (DBT) (Trichotillomania-Learning-Center 1991). Physical barriers such as gloves may also be useful.

For excoriation disorder, in addition to CBT and ERP, hypnosis as well as physical barriers may be effective (Paley et al. 2010; Shenefelt 2000, 2004).

24.9 Body Dysmorphic Disorder (BDD)

This syndrome is characterized by a distressing or impairing preoccupation with slight or imagined defect(s) in one's physical appearance. BDD has been reported in various parts of the world. Also called "dysmorphophobia," it was described by Emil Kraepelin and Pierre Janet among others, and numerous case studies have been reported from around the world. The skin seems to be the most common area of concern (73 %), followed by hair (56 %), and nose (37 %) (Phillips and Diaz 1997; Phillips et al. 2006).

BDD appears to be relatively common. The point prevalence has been reported to be 0.7-2.4 % in the general population, which makes BDD more common than disorders such as anorexia nervosa or schizophrenia. In adult student samples, prevalence rates of 2-13 % have been reported (Bjornsson et al. 2010).

In clinical settings, the prevalence BDD has been reported to be as high as 9-12 % in dermatology settings, 3-53 % in cosmetic surgery settings, 8-37 % in individuals with OCD, 11-13 % in social phobia, 26 % in trichotillomania, and 14-42 % in atypical major depressive disorder (MDD).

Among psychiatric inpatients, 13-16 % of patients have been reported to have BDD. A study of adolescent inpatients found that 4.8 % of patients had BDD (Dyl et al. 2006).

Contrary to common expectation, males seem to be equally affected with BDD as females, or only slightly less (Phillips and Diaz 1997; Phillips et al. 2006).

About two-thirds of BDD patients have past or current ideas or *delusions of reference*, i.e., the belief that other people take special notice of them negatively or are mocking or ridiculing them because of how they look (Phillips et al. 1994).

Nearly everyone with BDD is reported to engage in specific behaviors, such as mirror checking and skin picking. The relationship between thoughts and behaviors in BDD resemble the relationship between obsessions and compulsions in OCD, i.e., the compulsive behaviors arise in response to the obsessive thoughts about appearance, and are designed to reduce anxiety and other painful emotions associated with them, and as in OCD, these behaviors are not pleasurable. These compulsive behaviors are repetitive, time-consuming (about half of BDD patients spend 3 or more hours per day engaged in them), and hard to control and resist. Some behaviors, such as camouflaging disliked body parts (e.g., with a hat, makeup, sunglasses), are called *safety* behaviors, because their function is to reduce or avoid painful emotions or prevent something bad from happening, such as being humiliated or embarrassed. Most BDD patients perform multiple compulsive behaviors. They often compare themselves to other people, and about 90 % of BDD patients repeatedly look at themselves in the mirror, with the hopes of feeling they look acceptable, but usually feeling worse afterwards (Bjornsson et al. 2010).

BDD usually begins during adolescence, with two studies reporting a mean age at onset of 16 and a mode of 13 (Gunstad and Phillips 2003; Phillips et al. 2005). BDD appears to have a chronic course.

Rates of suicidal ideation, suicide attempts, and completed suicide appear markedly elevated. Approximately 80 % of individuals with BDD report past or current suicidal ideation, and about one-quarter have attempted suicide (Phillips 2007; Phillips and Menard 2006).

About one-third of people with BDD report violent behavior related to BDD symptoms. This may be related to anger about being deformed and /or inability to fix the deformity as well as delusions of reference (i.e., other people mocking them) (Phillips 2009).

According to one survey, 12 % of plastic surgeons reported that they had been threatened physically by a dissatisfied BDD patient (Sarwer 2002). BDD is often associated with alcohol or drug abuse.

Comorbidity is quite common with BDD, the most common being major depression (75 %

lifetime prevlance), followed by substance-use disorders (30–48.9 %), social phobia (37–39 %), and OCD (32–33 %) (Bjornsson et al. 2010).

BDD patients may overfocus on details of visual stimuli rather than global aspects, i.e., they overfocus on minor details of their appearance, which may in turn fuel preoccupation with minor appearance flaws. An fMRI study of facial processing found a bias among BDD subjects for using strategies to encode details of stimuli rather than use of holistic visual processing (Feusner et al. 2007).

24.10 Treatment of Body Dysmorphic Disorder

24.10.1 Cosmetic Treatment in BDD Patients

A majority of individuals with BDD seek (71-76 %) and receive (64-66 %) cosmetic treatment (e.g., surgical, dermatologic, or dental) for their perceived appearance flaws (Crerand et al. 2005; Phillips et al. 2001). However, only rarely does such treatment seem to improve overall BDD symptoms. In one study, subjects retrospectively reported that only 3.6 % of all treatments resulted in overall improvement in BDD (Crerand et al. 2010). Surgical treatments were more likely than other cosmetic procedures to decrease preoccupation with the treated body part; however, overall BDD severity improved with only 2.3 % of treatments (Crerand et al. 2010). In a survey of cosmetic surgeons, 40 % of respondents indicated that dissatisfied BDD patients had threatened them physically or legally (Sarwer 2002).

24.10.2 PsychiatricTreatment of BDD

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) and cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) are currently recommended as first-line treatments and they appear to be effective for a majority of patients. Twelve to 14 weeks of SSRI treatment is often needed before a response is seen, and relatively high SSRI doses (higher than typically used for depression) often appear to be needed. If an SSRI is not adequately effective, augmentation with another medication, e.g., aripiprazole, or switching to another SSRI, may be effective (Phillips 2005; Phillips and Hollander 2008).

Cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT), including exposure and response prevention (ERP) to reduce avoidance and compulsive and safety behaviors, seems effective in BDD (Bjornsson et al. 2010; Phillips et al. 2008). CBT helps patients focus less on minor details of their appearance and take a more holistic view of their body.

Interpersonal therapy (IPT) may be effective by enabling patients to develop more effective strategies to reduce interpersonal distress, poor self-esteem, and depressed mood, which are hypothesized to maintain body image concerns (Klerman 1994).

Many patients with BDD lack insight into their illness and therefore are insufficiently motivated for treatment. Motivational interviewing may be useful for some of these patients (Miller and Rollnick 2013; Phillips et al. 2008).

References

- Abramowitz, J. S., Baucom, D. H., Wheaton, M. G., Boeding, S., Fabricant, L. E., Paprocki, C., et al. (2013). Enhancing exposure and response prevention for OCD: A couple-based approach. *Behavior Modification*, 37, 189–210.
- APA. (2013). DSM-5 diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- Arco, L. (2008). Neurobehavioural treatment for obsessive-compulsive disorder in an adult with traumatic brain injury. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 18, 109–124.
- Bjornsson, A. S., Didie, E. R., & Phillips, K. A. (2010). Body dysmorphic disorder. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, 12, 221–232.
- Bloch, M. H. (2009). Trichotillomania across the life span. Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 48, 879–883.
- Bloch, M. H., Panza, K. E., Grant, J. E., Pittenger, C., & Leckman, J. F. (2013). N-acetylcysteine in the treatment of pediatric trichotillomania: A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled add-on trial. *Journal* of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 52, 231–240.

- Boulougouris, V., Castane, A., & Robbins, T. W. (2009). Dopamine D2/D3 receptor agonist quinpirole impairs spatial reversal learning in rats: Investigation of D3 receptor involvement in persistent behavior. *Psychopharmacology*, 202, 611–620.
- Burkhardt, R. W. (2005). Patterns of behavior : Konrad Lorenz, Niko Tinbergen, and the founding of ethology. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Coetzer, B. R. (2004). Obsessive-compulsive disorder following brain injury: A review. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine*, 34, 363–377.
- Crerand, C. E., Menard, W., & Phillips, K. A. (2010). Surgical and minimally invasive cosmetic procedures among persons with body dysmorphic disorder. *Annals of Plastic Surgery*, 65, 11–16.
- Crerand, C. E., Phillips, K. A., Menard, W., & Fay, C. (2005). Nonpsychiatric medical treatment of body dysmorphic disorder. *Psychosomatics*, 46, 549–555.
- Dold, M., Aigner, M., Lanzenberger, R., & Kasper, S. (2013). Antipsychotic augmentation of serotonin reuptake inhibitors in treatment-resistant obsessivecompulsive disorder: A meta-analysis of double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trials. *The International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology*, 16, 557–574.
- Dyl, J., Kittler, J., Phillips, K. A., & Hunt, J. I. (2006). Body dysmorphic disorder and other clinically significant body image concerns in adolescent psychiatric inpatients: Prevalence and clinical characteristics. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development, 36*, 369–382.
- Fellows, L. K. (2007). The role of orbitofrontal cortex in decision making: A component process account. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1121, 421–430.
- Feusner, J. D., Townsend, J., Bystritsky, A., & Bookheimer, S. (2007). Visual information processing of faces in body dysmorphic disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 64, 1417–1425.
- Fisher, H. E., Aron, A., & Brown, L. L. (2006). Romantic love: A mammalian brain system for mate choice. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences, 361*, 2173–2186.
- Grados, M. A., Walkup, J., & Walford, S. (2003). Genetics of obsessive-compulsive disorders: New findings and challenges. *Brain & Development*, 25(Suppl 1), S55–S61.
- Grant, J. E., Odlaug, B. L., & Kim, S. W. (2009). N-acetylcysteine, a glutamate modulator, in the treatment of trichotillomania: A double-blind, placebocontrolled study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 66, 756–763.
- Greenberg, B. D., Rauch, S. L., & Haber, S. N. (2010). Invasive circuitry-based neurotherapeutics: Stereotactic ablation and deep brain stimulation for OCD. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 35, 317–336.
- Gunstad, J., & Phillips, K. A. (2003). Axis I comorbidity in body dysmorphic disorder. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 44, 270–276.

- Gupta, M. A., & Gupta, A. K. (2000). Olanzapine is effective in the management of some self-induced dermatoses: Three case reports. *Cutis*, 66, 143–146.
- Gupta, M. A., & Gupta, A. K. (2001). Olanzapine may be an effective adjunctive therapy in the management of acne excoriee: A case report. *Journal of Cutaneous Medicine and Surgery*, 5, 25–27.
- Hariri, A. R., Brown, S. M., Williamson, D. E., Flory, J. D., de Wit, H., & Manuck, S. B. (2006). Preference for immediate over delayed rewards is associated with magnitude of ventral striatal activity. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 26, 13213–13217.
- Harvey, B. H., Scheepers, A., Brand, L., & Stein, D. J. (2001). Chronic inositol increases striatal D(2) receptors but does not modify dexamphetamine-induced motor behavior. Relevance to obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior*, 68, 245–253.
- Hofer, H., Frigerio, S., Frischknecht, E., Gassmann, D., Gutbrod, K., & Muri, R. M. (2012). Diagnosis and treatment of an obsessive-compulsive disorder following traumatic brain injury: A single case and review of the literature. *Neurocase*, 19(4), 390–400.
- Ivanov, V. Z., Mataix-Cols, D., Serlachius, E., Lichtenstein, P., Anckarsater, H., Chang, Z., et al. (2013). Prevalence, comorbidity and heritability of hoarding symptoms in adolescence: A population based twin study in 15-year olds. *PLoS One*, 8, e69140.
- Joel, D., Doljansky, J., & Schiller, D. (2005). 'Compulsive' lever pressing in rats is enhanced following lesions to the orbital cortex, but not to the basolateral nucleus of the amygdala or to the dorsal medial prefrontal cortex. *The European Journal of Neuroscience*, 21, 2252–2262.
- Kalenscher, T., Ohmann, T., & Gunturkun, O. (2006). The neuroscience of impulsive and self-controlled decisions. International Journal of Psychophysiology: Official Journal of the International Organization of Psychophysiology, 62, 203–211.
- Klerman, G. L. (1994). Interpersonal psychotherapy of depression (1st softcover ed.) Northvale, NJ: J. Aronson.
- Leigh, H. (2010). Genes, memes, culture, and mental illness: Toward an integrative model. New York, NY: Springer.
- Leigh, H. (2012). Memory, memes, cognition, and mental illness—Toward a new synthesis. *Journal of Cognitive Science*, 13, 329–354.
- Lochner, C., Seedat, S., Hemmings, S. M., Moolman-Smook, J. C., Kidd, M., & Stein, D. J. (2007). Investigating the possible effects of trauma experiences and 5-HTT on the dissociative experiences of patients with OCD using path analysis and multiple regression. *Neuropsychobiology*, 56, 6–13.
- Marazziti, D., Carlini, M., & Dell'Osso, L. (2012). Treatment strategies of obsessive-compulsive disorder and panic disorder/agoraphobia. *Current Topics in Medicinal Chemistry*, 12, 238–253.
- Miller, W. R., & Rollnick, S. (2013). Motivational interviewing: Helping people change (3rd ed.). New York, NY: Guilford Press.

- Olatunji, B. O., Davis, M. L., Powers, M. B., & Smits, J. A. (2013). Cognitive-behavioral therapy for obsessive-compulsive disorder: A meta-analysis of treatment outcome and moderators. *Journal of Psychiatric Research*, 47, 33–41.
- Paley, K., Prevost, N., & English, J. C., III. (2010). Unna sleeve for neurotic excoriations. *Cutis*, 85, 149–152.
- Phillips, K. A. (2005). The broken mirror: Understanding and treating body dysmorphic disorder. Revised and expanded. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Phillips, K. A. (2007). Suicidality in body dysmorphic disorder. Primary Psychiatry, 14, 58–66.
- Phillips, K. A. (2009). Understanding body dysmorphic disorder: An essential guide. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Phillips, K. A., & Diaz, S. F. (1997). Gender differences in body dysmorphic disorder. *The Journal of Nervous* and Mental Disease, 185, 570–577.
- Phillips, K. A., Didie, E. R., Feusner, J., & Wilhelm, S. (2008). Body dysmorphic disorder: Treating an underrecognized disorder. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 165, 1111–1118.
- Phillips, K. A., Grant, J., Siniscalchi, J., & Albertini, R. S. (2001). Surgical and nonpsychiatric medical treatment of patients with body dysmorphic disorder. *Psychosomatics*, 42, 504–510.
- Phillips, K. A., & Hollander, E. (2008). Treating body dysmorphic disorder with medication: Evidence, misconceptions, and a suggested approach. *Body Image*, 5, 13–27.
- Phillips, K. A., McElroy, S. L., Keck, P. E., Jr., Hudson, J. I., & Pope, H. G., Jr. (1994). A comparison of delusional and nondelusional body dysmorphic disorder in 100 cases. *Psychopharmacology Bulletin*, 30, 179–186.
- Phillips, K. A., & Menard, W. (2006). Suicidality in body dysmorphic disorder: A prospective study. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 163, 1280–1282.
- Phillips, K. A., Menard, W., Fay, C., & Weisberg, R. (2005). Demographic characteristics, phenomenology, comorbidity, and family history in 200 individuals with body dysmorphic disorder. *Psychosomatics*, 46, 317–325.
- Phillips, K. A., Menard, W., & Fay, C. (2006). Gender similarities and differences in 200 individuals with body dysmorphic disorder. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 47, 77–87.
- Rachman, S., & Hodgson, R. J. (1980). Obsessions and compulsions. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prentice-Hall.
- Rodrigues-Barata, A. R., Tosti, A., Rodriguez-Pichardo, A., & Camacho-Martinez, F. (2012). N-acetylcysteine in the treatment of trichotillomania. *International Journal of Trichology*, 4, 176–178.
- Rothbart, R., Amos, T., Siegfried, N., Ipser, J. C., Fineberg, N., Chamberlain, S. R., et al. (2013). Pharmacotherapy for trichotillomania. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 11, CD007662.
- Sarwer, D. B. (2002). Awareness and identification of body dysmorphic disorder by aesthetic surgeons: Results of a survey of american society for aesthetic plastic surgery members. *Aesthetic Surgery Journal*/

The American Society for Aesthetic Plastic surgery, 22, 531–535.

- Shenefelt, P. D. (2000). Hypnosis in dermatology. Archives of Dermatology, 136, 393–399.
- Shenefelt, P. D. (2004). Using hypnosis to facilitate resolution of psychogenic excoriations in acne excoriee. *The American Journal of Clinical Hypnosis*, 46, 239–245.
- Sheth, S. A., Neal, J., Tangherlini, F., Mian, M. K., Gentil, A., Cosgrove, G. R., et al. (2013). Limbic system surgery for treatment-refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder: A prospective long-term follow-up of 64 patients. *Journal of Neurosurgery*, 118, 491–497.
- Soomro, G. M., Altman, D., Rajagopal, S., & Oakley-Browne, M. (2008). Selective serotonin re-uptake inhibitors (SSRIs) versus placebo for obsessive compulsive disorder (OCD). *Cochrane Database Systematic Review*, CD001765.
- Trichotillomania-Learning-Center, 1991. Expert Consensus Treatment Guidelines for Trichotillomania and other body-focused repetitive behaviors. http://www.trich. org/dnld/ExpertGuidelines_000.pdf.

- van Vliet, I. M., van Well, E. P., Bruggeman, R., Campo, J. A., Hijman, R., van Megen, H. J., et al. (2013). An evaluation of irreversible psychosurgical treatment of patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder in the Netherlands, 2001-2008. *The Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 201, 226–228.
- Wilhelm, S., Buhlmann, U., Tolin, D. F., Meunier, S. A., Pearlson, G. D., Reese, H. E., et al. (2008). Augmentation of behavior therapy with D-cycloserine for obsessive-compulsive disorder. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *165*, 335–341. quiz 409.
- Wootton, B. M., Titov, N., Dear, B. F., Spence, J., Andrews, G., Johnston, L., et al. (2011). An Internet administered treatment program for obsessivecompulsive disorder: A feasibility study. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 25, 1102–1107.
- Zhang, Q. J., Wang, W. H., & Wei, X. P. (2013). Long-term efficacy of stereotactic bilateral anterior cingulotomy and bilateral anterior capsulotomy as a treatment for refractory obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Stereotactic* and Functional Neurosurgery, 91, 258–261.